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          1  COMMITTEE ON IMMIGRATION

          2                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Today's hearing

          3  will be driver's licenses policies and their impacts

          4  upon immigrants.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: Good morning. My

          6  name is Kendall Stewart and I am the Chair of the

          7  Immigration Committee. I would like to acknowledge

          8  my colleague here, Annabel Palma who is here with me

          9  today and the other members will be showing up

         10  because there are several meetings going on at this

         11  time. They will be coming in at various times.

         12                 Today, we will be conducting an

         13  oversight hearing to discuss New York's driver's

         14  license policies and their impact upon immigrants.

         15  Immigrant access to drivers license has become an

         16  important issue in New York. Anti- immigrant groups

         17  and legislators in some parts of the State are

         18  aggressively pursuing legislation and regulations

         19  that will restrict immigrants access to drivers

         20  licenses. There are using fear and prejudice as

         21  their weapon of choice. Despite these efforts, the

         22  Immigration Committee is committed to making sure

         23  the negative impact upon immigrants is as minimal as

         24  possible.

         25                 We can do this by making sure that
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          2  the interest held by the government and our great

          3  State is balanced carefully with the rights of

          4  immigrants. A balance that protects these rights and

          5  national security can and must be struck. A balance

          6  which when we are done will include more than just

          7  drivers license, but licenses of all kinds and

          8  specifically those of professional licenses.

          9                 Recently, in New York, DMV started

         10  comparing records with the Social Security

         11  Administration and sending letters threatening

         12  license suspension to anyone who has mismatching

         13  information between the two sets of records or who

         14  holds a license on a social security number that is

         15  also being used by another person. Also, hundreds of

         16  transgender people started receiving these letters.

         17  Many transgender people have a different gender on

         18  their Social Security Administration records than on

         19  their DMV records because the DMV allows a

         20  transgender person to change their sex designation

         21  with a doctor's letter or note while the Social

         22  Security Administration requires proof of genital

         23  surgery.

         24                 I believe that the DMV should stick

         25  to its job of keeping the record safe and the road
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          2  safe. The Social Security Administration should

          3  focus more on ensuring the benefits for elderly and

          4  disabled people. Using these records to create a

          5  witch hunt for immigrants and a catch 22 for

          6  transgender people is inexcusable. Today, we will

          7  focus on drivers licenses. We can only imagine

          8  similar difficulties in obtaining other licenses;

          9  especially professional licenses. For example, RN or

         10  LPN or engineering or electrical or even the

         11  doctor's license.

         12                 Our first panel we will call and I'll

         13  ask Desiree to call the first panel. While she is

         14  doing that, I would like to recognize that we have

         15  joining us today is our friend and another member is

         16  Michael Nelson from Brooklyn.

         17                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Good morning. I

         18  would like to call up Amy Sugimori. Amy is from the

         19  New York Coalition for Immigrants Rights to Driver's

         20  Licenses and the National Employment Law Project.

         21                 MS. SUGIMORI: Good morning. Am I part

         22  of a panel or should I go ahead? Okay. Good morning,

         23  Committee Chair Stewart, members Nelson and Palma.

         24  Thank you very much for giving me the opportunity to

         25  speak on this important issue this morning. As was
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          2  said, my name is Amy Sugimori. I'm an attorney with

          3  the National Employment Law Project. I also come on

          4  behalf of the New York Coalition for Immigrants

          5  Rights for Driver's Licenses which is a state wide

          6  coalition of over 60 labor, community, faith- based

          7  and other organizations that has been working for

          8  years to address the important issue of immigrant

          9  access to driver's licenses.

         10                 I'm going to try to keep my testimony

         11  fairly brief, but I'm very happy to answer detailed

         12  questions or concerns that committee members might

         13  have. First off, I just wanted to start by

         14  applauding the Committee and the City Council as a

         15  whole for the passage in December of 2005 of

         16  Resolution 1009- A which raised the very real

         17  concerns that the City has with both the passage and

         18  content of the federal REAL ID Act which had been

         19  passed in May of 2005 and also further, called on

         20  the State to opt out of its driver's license

         21  provisions.

         22                 The coalition believes that this was

         23  the right thing to do and moreover recent

         24  information that has come out only backs up the

         25  point that this is the right thing to do. A recent
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          2  report based on a survey conducted by the National

          3  Governors Association, the National Conference of

          4  State Legislatures and the American Association of

          5  Motor Vehicle Administrators determined that the

          6  cost to states of implementation of REAL ID in the

          7  first five years would be over $11 billion.

          8  Moreover, that it would lead to increased

          9  inconveniences, risks and concerns for all residents

         10  of states because as well all know, everybody would

         11  be required to get a new license under the READ ID

         12  regime. This isn't something that would just affect

         13  one segment of the population. It would affect all

         14  of us.

         15                 I also wanted to talk about what's

         16  going on in New York because while the resolution

         17  and the call to opt out of REAL ID is very important

         18  and while as we know, no state has implemented the

         19  REAL ID act as of yet. States aren't required to

         20  come into compliance until May of 2008, we do have a

         21  real problem on our hands right now and have had for

         22  at least four years in the State. For over four

         23  years, the New York State Department of Motor

         24  Vehicles has been restricting access to driver's

         25  licenses based on immigration status. Moreover, it
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          2  has created a situation in which current New Yorkers

          3  holding driver's licenses are unable to renew or

          4  change information relating to their drivers

          5  licenses putting some 300,000 New Yorkers in a state

          6  of limbo where they face loss completely of licenses

          7  once their licenses expire and countless other New

          8  Yorkers will never be able to access licenses.

          9                 I just wanted to point out that this

         10  is something that is neither required by New York

         11  State Law nor by regulations. In fact, New York

         12  State Law requires only that people be able to

         13  establish their identity, their age and their

         14  fitness to drive. While New York State Law does call

         15  on the Department of Motor Vehicles to collect

         16  social security numbers and that provision was

         17  enacted in 1995 as part of New York's welfare reform

         18  as a means of tracking child support payments and

         19  having consequences for nonpayment of child support,

         20  the regulation specifically provide that where a

         21  person doesn't have or is not eligible for a social

         22  security number, they simply have to provide proof

         23  that they are not eligible. I just want to clarify

         24  that this DMV policy is something that is not

         25  required or even provided for in either law or
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          2  existing regulations.

          3                 Moreover, these practices and

          4  policies have serious economics and social

          5  consequences for a state in which so many people are

          6  immigrants, are connected to immigrants, depend on

          7  immigrants, in which people need drivers licenses to

          8  work, to take their children to school, to access

          9  medical care, to attend religious services, in which

         10  employers depend on their employees being able to

         11  get around. And in which driver's licenses are

         12  needed for things like being able to cash a check

         13  for example. This has very serious consequences.

         14  Once again, I just wanted to reiterate that the New

         15  York City Council was extremely right in calling on

         16  the State to opt out of the driver's license

         17  provision of REAL ID and to call into question a

         18  bill that was enacted in an extremely undemocratic

         19  manner that was basically attached without

         20  deliberation to a must pass piece of appropriations

         21  legislation that was not broadly supported; that was

         22  not developed as a result of deliberation.

         23                 In fact, it was in many ways enacted

         24  in the name of national security. However, the 9/11

         25  Commission that spent a long time looking at the
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          2  events relating to September 11 and making

          3  recommendations for how the United States can

          4  improve security, specifically did not include tying

          5  immigration status to driver's licenses as one of

          6  their recommendations, seeing that as a totally

          7  separate matter. And in fact, the Intelligence Bill

          8  which had been passed by the Congress through a more

          9  deliberative process following the recommendations

         10  of the 9/11 Commission had a completely different

         11  proposal for looking at safety issues relating to

         12  driver's licenses and envisioned a collaborative

         13  process of states, the federal government and

         14  agencies coming up with a set of standards that they

         15  would negotiate and negotiated rule making process.

         16  This was completely derailed with the passage of the

         17  REAL ID Act.

         18                 I think with the results of the study

         19  conducted by the National Governors Association, the

         20  National Conference of State Legislatures and the

         21  American Association of Motor Vehicle Administrators

         22  in which it becomes clear that the privacy and

         23  security risks to everybody are quite serious with

         24  regard to implementation of the REAL ID Act that the

         25  cost to states would be enormous. As we all know, we
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          2  are in a country where there are many, many

          3  immigrants who would be barred access to driver's

          4  licenses. This is something that is worthy of

          5  reconsideration at the federal level and it is

          6  something that I want to remind everybody the states

          7  do not have to adopt.

          8                 As I said, the New York City Council

          9  has already passed a resolution calling on the State

         10  to opt out of the driver's licenses provisions of

         11  the REAL ID. What can the New York City Council do

         12  now? As I said, the state does not have law or

         13  regulations that require the current policy that

         14  denies access to licenses, the City Council can call

         15  on the governor to require the Department of Motor

         16  Vehicles to change its policy to one in which

         17  Department of Motor Vehicles agencies are not acting

         18  as immigration enforcement; to one in which secure

         19  and reliable identity documents that immigrants are

         20  able to provide are accepted; to one in which there

         21  is one driver's license for all.

         22                 I just want to speak briefly to the

         23  issue related to having markedly different licenses

         24  for people based on immigration status. In a society

         25  in which, I think many believe that it would not be
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          2  realistic or fair to require immigrants to provide

          3  information possibly inaccurate because the

          4  Department of Motor Vehicles is not in the position

          5  to make qualified determinations of immigration

          6  status to each and any person who asks to see their

          7  driver's license; whether it is a bartender, whether

          8  it is a police officer, whether it is a clerk in a

          9  store to make judgments about their immigration

         10  status and act accordingly would be a serious

         11  problem and likely lead to discrimination moreover.

         12  It would be quite inconsistent with the policies

         13  behind Executive Order 41 which the City has already

         14  adopted in which all New Yorkers are to have equal

         15  access to services and to be able to interact with

         16  police without immigration consequences or being

         17  asked about their immigration status.

         18                 These are serious concerns in

         19  thinking about what kind of a license immigrants

         20  would have access too. And our position is that

         21  immigrants should have access to driver's licenses

         22  just like other New Yorkers. There should

         23  requirements for reliable and secure identity

         24  documents that immigrants can provide. That there

         25  should be one license for all and that New York opt
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          2  out of the driver's licenses provisions of REAL ID.

          3  And this is the next step that the City Council can

          4  call on the State to do. Thank you.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: First I would

          6  like to recognize that we have several members who

          7  have joined us. We have Dave Weprin from Queens and

          8  we have Mark- Viverito from Manhattan and also we

          9  have Annabel Palma from the Bronx and Mike Nelson

         10  from Brooklyn. I have a question that I want to ask

         11  before I asked my colleagues who have questions.

         12  First, you mentioned that our state may opt out. To

         13  me, the state  has already began implementing this

         14  REAL ID act by the fact that one, they are comparing

         15  now the social security records with the DMV records

         16  and based on that information, letters are being

         17  sent out. In other words, they have started

         18  implementing what we call the REAL ID act. How do

         19  you comment on that?

         20                 MS. SUGIMORI: I would say that

         21  certainly New York State before the REAL ID Act was

         22  even ever in existence started adopting certain

         23  procedures that are similar to those that would be

         24  required of the REAL ID Act. The actual adoption of

         25  the REAL ID Act would have much more serious
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          2  requirements that would impact everybody including

          3  linking of databases with all other states and with

          4  the federal government with regard to requiring that

          5  everybody, even current drivers licenses holders

          6  would have to come back in to reestablish every

          7  piece of identity document and have it verified with

          8  the issuing agency. So certainly there would be a

          9  lot more that the State would have to do and

         10  everybody would be feeling it. But immigrants have

         11  been feeling it. You are absolutely right.

         12  Immigrants have been feeling the consequences for

         13  over four years. The rest of the population would

         14  certainly be feeling it if REAL ID Act were to be

         15  enacted/adopted.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: You are saying

         17  if it is adopted. But to me that's if they have

         18  started doing it already.

         19                 MS. SUGIMORI: No. I agree with you. I

         20  think that they took a piece and that piece was then

         21  taken as a model in the creation of the REAL ID Act,

         22  yes.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: Right. Because

         24  of the fact that we have folks who have the problem

         25  now because of the transgender problem in terms of
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          2  they receiving letters indicating that they have to

          3  bring in their information or even they are being

          4  denied driver's license because of the fact --

          5                 MS. SUGIMORI: Yes.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: -- That they

          7  have different standards at DMV and the social

          8  security office. To me, they have already started

          9  implementing this act and what I'm looking at is

         10  what can we do to assist these folks who are going

         11  through this problem.

         12                 MS. SUGIMORI: As I was saying before

         13  I think what we can do is we can remind the governor

         14  or the incoming governor that this is not law. This

         15  is not regulations in New York and that they should

         16  stop this policy and they should come up with a

         17  policy that enables people to get licenses. That

         18  would be the best thing to do.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: Can you comment

         20  on the fact that when this DMV procedure started a

         21  couple of years ago that there was a law suit and

         22  the local court ruled in favor of dismantling that

         23  practice and then it was appealed and then it was

         24  reversed. Could you comment that particular lawsuit?

         25                 MS. SUGIMORI: Yes, I can. This was a
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          2  lawsuit brought by affected people and represented

          3  by the Puerto Rican Legal Defense and Education

          4  Fund. To give the bottom line of what ultimately the

          5  final court ruling said, it said the Department of

          6  Vehicles has broad discretion to adopt or change a

          7  policy. That's basically the bottom line of what was

          8  said by the court which means that in the court's

          9  opinion, the Department of Motor Vehicles did have

         10  the discretion to adopt this policy that creates a

         11  lot of barriers. But by the same logic, the

         12  Department of Motor Vehicles also has the discretion

         13  to stop this policy.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: Any questions?

         15  Council Member Palma, please.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER PALMA: Thank you, Mr.

         17  Chair. Ms. Sugimori, the 300,000 immigrants that

         18  have already faced suspension, was it based on the

         19  legal status or --

         20                 MS. SUGIMORI: The situation that

         21  people caught up in was a situation in which the

         22  Department of Motor Vehicles was running checks of

         23  their database which had identifying information and

         24  social security numbers in their database against

         25  the Social Security Administration's database. And
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          2  what they were coming up with is what we call a no

          3  match. That the information they had name, social

          4  security number did not match the name, social

          5  security number information that the Social Security

          6  Administration has.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: Mike Nelson.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: Hi, Ms.

          9  Sugimori. In the statement, you have a statement

         10  contained therein of Margaret Stock who said that --

         11                 MS. SUGIMORI: Yes.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: -- Denial of

         13  licenses to immigrants is a policy prescription that

         14  hampers law enforcement far more than it enhances

         15  it.

         16                 MS. SUGIMORI: Yes.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: Can you

         18  elaborate on that?

         19                 MS. SUGIMORI: Yes, I can. She has

         20  testified and spoken widely on this issue and I

         21  would be happy also to provide some examples of her

         22  writing on this and she has two perspectives. One of

         23  which is the very broad and basic. There is a road

         24  safety piece which is that we would rather have

         25  people who are tested licensed drivers who are able
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          2  to obtain auto insurance on the road, one. That's

          3  actually a very serious public security concern. The

          4  other as she points out is people who have driver's

          5  licenses are in the system. They are identifiable.

          6  In fact in many cases, ways in which in potential

          7  suspects and different sorts of investigations are

          8  found out is because there is way of identifying

          9  them and they are in a database and people can kind

         10  of establish who people are. Those are in short her

         11  basic reasons.

         12                 I think the third reason is that she

         13  raises as well is that in order to do good law

         14  enforcement, you have to have good community

         15  relations. You have to have communities who are

         16  willing to interact with law enforcement as

         17  witnesses or as victims. If people are concerned

         18  that they might be asked to provide identification

         19  that marks them and might make them subject to

         20  immigration enforcement, that is a deterrent against

         21  interacting with people when they could provide

         22  useful cooperating information.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: Anti-

         24  immigrant means spirited some of the quotes over

         25  here. Is it possible that Congress came with an
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          2  attempt to circumvent a possible terrorist attack?

          3                 MS. SUGIMORI: I mean certainly that

          4  was the way in which it was framed. However, the

          5  passage of the REAL ID Act wasn't really subject to

          6  deliberation, to debate, to addressing whereas the

          7  Intelligence Bill was. And the Intelligence Bill

          8  took a different approach to driver's licenses. I

          9  think we really can't say why do people vote for the

         10  REAL ID Act, because they wanted to vote for

         11  appropriations for the wars in Iraq and Afghanistan

         12  and for the tsunami victims. That's why the voted

         13  for it.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: It was thrown

         15  in with the tsunami bill and everything else and

         16  just slipped through.

         17                 MS. SUGIMORI: Yes. And it was a very

         18  last minute, 11th hour attachment.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: Is anybody

         20  here by the way to testify for the REAL ID act? Or

         21  is only going to be against it? Do we know? I'm just

         22  curious to see if there is any balance for today.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: Ms. Viverito.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: I thank you.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK- VIVERITO: I
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          2  thank you for your testimony this morning. In

          3  reading quickly over the information, obviously

          4  there is an opportunity for states to opt out?

          5                 MS. SUGIMORI: Yes.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK- VIVERITO: Okay.

          7  Are there cases where there have been states that

          8  have requested to opt and have been granted that

          9  opportunity?

         10                 MS. SUGIMORI: Maybe I will explain

         11  the process and then I will give you examples of the

         12  states that are starting to take a stance or

         13  starting to seriously consider this. To say opt out

         14  is not technically accurate. Basically, the question

         15  is, if a state wants its identification documents to

         16  be accepted for the purposes of federal

         17  identification, they will have to meet the criteria

         18  of the REAL ID Act. Because the federal government

         19  doesn't really have jurisdiction to tell states what

         20  their ID can be for their purposes, it only has

         21  jurisdiction to say what they are for federal

         22  purposes. And federal purposes have not quite been

         23  clearly identified yet. This will be part of the

         24  regulations. Every body knows that when getting on

         25  airplanes. Every body knows it will mean that.
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          2                 There is some talk about accessing

          3  certain federal buildings, but it is unclear which

          4  ones those will be because there will be some first

          5  amendment rights to petition that would mean access

          6  to courts will have to be available to people. It is

          7  unclear exactly what the other federal purposes will

          8  be. This means that states need to decide if I want

          9  my driver's license to be accepted as federal ID, it

         10  will have to meet these criteria. However, --

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK-VIVERITO: So it

         12  is basically not a request that is made --

         13                 MS. SUGIMORI: Yes.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK-VIVERITO: -- It

         15  is just implementing it with the understanding that

         16  you will not be able to use that identification as

         17  federal purposes.

         18                 MS. SUGIMORI: Yes. For federal

         19  purposes. I think there is a second complicating

         20  factor which is that there is not regulations yet

         21  that have clarified what the requirements will be.

         22  There have been a lot of questions raised because as

         23  I said, the REAL ID Act wasn't subject to

         24  deliberative process. In the time that the different

         25  local government or associations and different
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          2  agencies have been thinking through all the question

          3  marks; what is this going to mean, what is this

          4  going to mean. There is a great likelihood that

          5  either the date by which states will have to come

          6  into compliance could be pushed back.

          7                 There is a possibility that the

          8  requirements could change. There is the possibility

          9  that a lot of states will determine that they don't

         10  have the financial resources to comply. The question

         11  of what will it mean if many states don't opt in for

         12  different reasons, we can't afford it, we don't it

         13  is a good idea, we just can't do it in this time

         14  frame. The question of having your license be

         15  acceptable for federal identification purposes will

         16  likely be called into question.

         17                 The next thing is examples of states.

         18  New Mexico was one of the first states to kind of

         19  come out and say, it's really been good for us to

         20  give access to licenses regardless of immigration

         21  status. It is improved our rates of licenses, I

         22  mean, sorry, of insured drivers on the road. We

         23  think it is good for public safety. We think it is a

         24  good idea. So they were the first to say we are

         25  really going to explore continuing to provide
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          2  licenses post REAL ID.

          3                 Another state that has drawn a lot of

          4  attention lately is New Hampshire. Two states, New

          5  Hampshire and Kentucky, were selected as pilot

          6  states. There were going to get some funding, but

          7  insufficient funding, to pilot it and see how it

          8  would work out in their states. In New Hampshire,

          9  this was meet with a lot of resistance on civil

         10  liberties grounds. Not necessarily on immigration

         11  grounds, but civil liberties grounds. In fact, one

         12  of the Houses of their Legislature passed

         13  legislation saying we're not going to adopt this.

         14  The other decided instead to set up a committee to

         15  further explore the issue. Certainly, in New

         16  Hampshire as one of the first states being asked to

         17  comply, there are some serious resistance going on.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK- VIVERITO: If

         19  those states that want to implement this, there is

         20  no additional federal funding for it?

         21                 MS. SUGIMORI: There is some. There is

         22  some anticipated federal funding. Some grants to be

         23  provided to states for implementation. But all of

         24  the reports and estimates have said that this will

         25  be seriously, seriously insufficient. That the
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          2  additional cost brought on by adopting the REAL ID

          3  requirements will be so much more than whatever

          4  possible block grant would be available.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK- VIVERITO: Okay.

          6  With regards to the 300,000 that was referenced

          7  earlier, are we in fact as a State already

          8  implementing this?

          9                 MS. SUGIMORI: As a State, we are

         10  already denying licenses based on immigration

         11  status. As a State, our Department of Motor Vehicle

         12  agents are already engaged in enforcement of

         13  immigration law. I want to point out not only are we

         14  barring access based on immigration status, but

         15  other immigrants with some sort of visa status are

         16  having often inaccurate visa information stamped on

         17  their driver's licenses already. They already have

         18  marked licenses with visa expiration date

         19  information that is often inaccurate that creates a

         20  lot of confusion and a lot of concern for people who

         21  are barring those licenses.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK- VIVERITO: What

         23  recourse do those individuals have? What kind of

         24  assistance is available to them at this point? Does

         25  organization like yours help provide assistance to
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          2  kind of rectify those errors?

          3                 MS. SUGIMORI: Those are organizations

          4  that can help on an individual level to advocate

          5  with regard to individual misunderstandings. But in

          6  a systematic way, there really isn't anything in

          7  place.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK- VIVERITO: Thank

          9  you.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: I want to go

         11  back to a question that I asked before and that has

         12  do with states opting out as you said. We know that

         13  the REAL ID Act is federal law. What can do the fed

         14  do if the state decides to opt out?

         15                 MS. SUGIMORI: They can refuse to

         16  accept their licenses as federal ID. So for federal

         17  purposes, they can say, we don't consider your

         18  license or identification document to be a federal

         19  ID.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: And that's it?

         21                 MS. SUGIMORI: Yes.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: There is no real

         23  punishment you can really do to the State?

         24                 MS. SUGIMORI: As this point right

         25  now, there is nothing. There is nothing anticipated
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          2  in terms of fines or penalties or anything like

          3  that. I think the big concern is the inconvenience

          4  factor. People have to have other forms of ID for

          5  federal purposes.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: Right. You know

          7  that we have quite a number of folks here who are

          8  here that might be citizens, but because the fact of

          9  transgender or there might be legal residents who

         10  may not have a social security number yet like

         11  students or folks who are waiting to be adjusted.

         12                 MS. SUGIMORI: Yes.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: How many of

         14  these people are considered affected by this REAL ID

         15  Act as of now with the DMV?

         16                 MS. SUGIMORI: Yes. I don't have the

         17  actual numbers. But basically anybody who has got

         18  some issue relating to social security number and

         19  their name is very likely to be impacted with the

         20  way the structures are set up. In addition, anybody

         21  who has any kind of a visa that the Department of

         22  Motor Vehicles doesn't understand is likely to face

         23  concerns. And I just also wanted to flag in

         24  Tennessee when they started having a different type

         25  of license based on immigration status, a lot of
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          2  U.S. Citizens who are Puerto Rican born were denied

          3  access because of a total misunderstanding of the

          4  law by the Department of Motor Vehicles; agencies

          5  who didn't understand that they were U.S. Citizens.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: Yes, I

          7  understand that. But somewhere I think it was noted

          8  about the 300,000 --

          9                 MS. SUGIMORI: Yes.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: -- Folks are

         11  affected. But those people that are we are talking

         12  there are mainly undocumented.

         13                 MS. SUGIMORI: We don't know that.

         14  Some of them can be people who are transgender who

         15  have issues relating to their social security number

         16  gender and name. There are a range of different

         17  reasons why people might be affected.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: The 300,000 that

         19  you are talking about --

         20                 MS. SUGIMORI: Yes.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: -- Includes

         22  everybody?

         23                 MS. SUGIMORI: Yes.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: Or just

         25  undocumented.

                                                            28

          1  COMMITTEE ON IMMIGRATION

          2                 MS. SUGIMORI: It includes everybody

          3  who is facing suspension based on this policy.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: Oh, I see. It is

          5  possible that we may have about at least ten to 15

          6  percent of that 300,000 that legal residents or

          7  people who were here legally that are affected.

          8                 MS. SUGIMORI: On my part, I would

          9  have to admit it would be speculation because I just

         10  don't have the information. But certainly we know

         11  that there is a range of reasons why people might be

         12  in that group.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: I have one last

         14  question. Do you believe that the information

         15  sharing with the Department of Homeland Social

         16  Security Office Administration will increase public

         17  safety or decrease public safety?

         18                 MS. SUGIMORI: I think that we need to

         19  remember that the REAL ID Act anticipates database

         20  sharing not just between the state and the federal

         21  government. Maybe people feel some sense of security

         22  with relation to the federal government, but with

         23  every other state that is participating in this, so

         24  all 50 states. I think whenever you link that many

         25  databases, each one with its own level of
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          2  possibility of breach, we raise serious privacy and

          3  identity theft concerns for everybody who is in the

          4  database. I think that is sort of an under

          5  appreciated risk that we are entering into.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: You are saying

          7  basically that you could create a bigger problem --

          8                 MS. SUGIMORI: Yes.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: -- By linkage.

         10                 MS. SUGIMORI: Yes.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: In your own

         12  opinion, do you think most of the states will abide

         13  by this REAL ID Act? I see it as a big problem and

         14  by May of '08 and I don't think most of the states

         15  will even be part of it.

         16                 MS. SUGIMORI: I feel that there are

         17  logistical and fiscal barriers even if states wanted

         18  too. I don't see how they would be able too and I

         19  think it is also important to remember, REAL ID Act

         20  was passed in May of 2005, we still haven't seen the

         21  regulations explaining exactly what the requirements

         22  would be. States can't even make a determination of

         23  can do we this? Does this make sense for us because

         24  they don't have that information.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: We know the
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          2  federal government has given mandates without giving

          3  money. However, if they decide to put funding into

          4  this program to make it happen, you think that will

          5  change the dynamics?

          6                 MS. SUGIMORI: I think the money is a

          7  very big factor. That clearly the money has been a

          8  big factor identified. However, it is not the only

          9  factor. As I said, the states that have taken a

         10  stance such as New Hampshire, such as New Mexico

         11  have done so; New Hampshire on civil liberties

         12  grounds, New Mexico on immigrant and driver safety

         13  grounds. I think there are other reasons that states

         14  that choose to take a stand will. But I do think

         15  that the financial barrier is a serious barrier. But

         16  I also wanted to mention another one that has come

         17  up a lot if you look in the editorials of different

         18  state newspapers is the really long lines, greater

         19  inconvenience. This is going to be tough on

         20  everybody.

         21                 A lot of older people or people in

         22  certain states or people in states that have been

         23  impacted by natural disasters or other issues where

         24  they might not have access to some of their primary

         25  documents anymore. Their birth certificates may have

                                                            31

          1  COMMITTEE ON IMMIGRATION

          2  been destroyed or in some cases, people may not have

          3  ever known where they were. I think a lot of people,

          4  U.S. Citizens as well as immigrants are going to

          5  face serious challenges and obstacles to that

          6  initial step of getting into the REAL ID system.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: My last

          8  question, last last question and that is we have

          9  just been discussing driver's license.

         10                 MS. SUGIMORI: Yes.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: Do you foresee

         12  similar problems with other types of licenses?

         13                 MS. SUGIMORI: Yes. I can speak on one

         14  type of license that is already an issue in New York

         15  State because it is linked to driver's licenses and

         16  that is asbestos licenses. There is already a

         17  problem because access to asbestos licenses is tied

         18  to having a state issued ID; meaning a driver's

         19  license or a non- driver ID. Those people who work

         20  in asbestos who need asbestos handling licenses are

         21  already facing the same barriers to those licenses.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: Same as --

         23                 MS. SUGIMORI: Driver's licenses.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: All right. What

         25  about other professional license? For example,
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          2  nurses license.

          3                 MS. SUGIMORI: I don't have

          4  information that that is as directly connected. I

          5  think asbestos licenses are an example in which they

          6  are specifically linked. But certainly when we go

          7  into this area, when we go down this path of

          8  thinking that social security numbers are the

          9  perfect identifier and we should link everything to

         10  them. Or when we start having to go back and

         11  reverify different source documents, other licenses

         12  will probably come into issue. But I don't have

         13  specific information with regard to other types of

         14  licenses.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: Any other

         16  questions?

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER PALMA: Seeing the

         18  errors that have been made since the State decided

         19  to kind of start implementing this, out of the

         20  300,000, how many do we know have had their errors

         21  rectified?

         22                 MS. SUGIMORI: These are the remaining

         23  people who weren't able to get those errors

         24  rectified.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER PALMA: There were more
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          2  people who were affected?

          3                 MS. SUGIMORI: Yes, there many more

          4  who affected initially.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER PALMA: Do we know

          6  because of these mistakes if the Immigration

          7  Department is now coordinating with the State and

          8  the Department of Motor Vehicles to train their

          9  staff?

         10                 MS. SUGIMORI: Yes. Especially early

         11  on, when this program was first initiated, people

         12  were receiving letters. The letters were telling

         13  them to come into the Department of Motor Vehicles

         14  and rectify the situation. At that time, there were

         15  instances of people at that point being put into

         16  deportation proceedings or being arrested or

         17  immediately going into the next step of immigration

         18  enforcement, yes.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER PALMA: Thank you.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: We have been

         21  joined by Darlene Mealy. Do you have any questions,

         22  Ms. Mealy? All right. We want to thank you. Thank

         23  you for your testimony.

         24                 MS. SUGIMORI: Thank you.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: We will be
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          2  reaching out to you again for more information.

          3                 MS. SUGIMORI: Okay. Thank you.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: Call the next

          5  panel.

          6                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: The next panel

          7  will be from Catholic Charities. I would like to

          8  call Monsignor Sullivan and Raluca Oncioiu.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: If you please

         10  identify yourself and then you may begin.

         11                 MR. SULLIVAN: Monsignor Kevin

         12  Sullivan, Executive Director of the Catholic

         13  Charities of the Archdiocese of New York. Council

         14  Members, thank you very much for this invitation to

         15  speak this morning. Raluca has submitted and you

         16  have our formal testimony. I will summarize that

         17  rather briefly and try not to reiterate some of the

         18  points that were made by your previous speaker who

         19  was here who covered those points rather well.

         20                 Just very briefly to say that

         21  Catholic Charities deals with tens of thousands of

         22  immigrants each year. Directly in our immigration

         23  services, we field more than 40,000 calls for

         24  information; represent more than 2,000 immigrants

         25  each year. We deal with hundreds of thousands of
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          2  immigrants in our various human service programs in

          3  New York City and even beyond New York City. We know

          4  the experience of immigrants.

          5                 My testimony this morning here quite

          6  frankly is one of frustration. Frustration because

          7  about six months ago, thousands of us were outside

          8  on Broadway asking for the only solution that makes

          9  any type of sense with regard to the REAL ID Act and

         10  that is comprehensive immigration reform and nothing

         11  significantly positive has happened except this

         12  morning. The news report that the President has

         13  signed a law authorizing the building of a 700 mile

         14  fence.

         15                 The issue of who is issued a driver's

         16  license and how what serves as an acceptable

         17  identification is a legitimate issue. But our

         18  perspective, it is only one part of comprehensive

         19  immigration reform. Our position is clear. We are

         20  not in favor of illegal immigration. We have seen

         21  too much exploitation and suffering by those who are

         22  undocumented as others take advantage of them. We do

         23  not encourage illegal immigration. We are in favor

         24  of a more generous legal immigration policy that

         25  would diminish the need for illegal immigration and
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          2  further strengthen us as a diverse and industrious

          3  nation.

          4                 But at the same time while we do not

          5  favor illegal immigration, we recognize that each

          6  immigrant regardless of their immigration status is

          7  made in the image of God and therefore, merits

          8  dignity and respect. We will help them in need

          9  regardless of their immigration status and in

         10  addition we sort of support a way for more than ten

         11  million undocumented immigrants over time and not

         12  jumping ahead in line to earn their permanent

         13  residency and citizenship in this country.

         14                 In simple terms and this speaks very

         15  much to the issue at hand today. Immigration reform

         16  must be comprehensive. Peace meal does not work for

         17  immigrants documented or undocumented. Nor does

         18  peace meal work for us as a society. Therefore, the

         19  provisions of the REAL ID Act of 2005 are not

         20  acceptable because they fail to deal with the other

         21  critical parts of immigration reform.

         22                 There are really only two acceptable

         23  responses to the current situation. Unfortunately,

         24  which are beyond the authority of this body. Pass

         25  comprehensive immigration reform that deals
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          2  appropriately with issues of proper identification

          3  and documentation or failing this repeal the REAL ID

          4  Act before its mandatory effective date in 2008 and

          5  then deal with it in a more comprehensive form.

          6  Whatever action you choose to take in terms of

          7  resolutions, you are working with your colleagues at

          8  other levels of government, clearly there is a need

          9  for states not to be forced to implement the REAL ID

         10  Act in 2008. Thank you very much.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: I want you to

         12  comment on the fact that we have so much problem

         13  with the driver's license from DMV. I want you to

         14  comment on the fact that the hardship that you may

         15  have seen with folks who are coming into you not

         16  being able to drive, not being able to do the thing

         17  that they were doing before, not being able to

         18  sustain and support their family. I know that

         19  Catholic Charities see a lot of these folks. I want

         20  you to comment on that.

         21                 MR. SULLIVAN: If I might Councilman,

         22  I will comment on that. But briefly let me also

         23  mention that Catholic Charities of the Archdiocese

         24  of New York does extend to the seven counties to the

         25  north and west of New York City. And if you permit
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          2  me just to say that it is particularly harsh on

          3  people in our suburban and rural areas who rely

          4  often times on cars and transportation to get to

          5  work to support their families. All of us know that

          6  the reason why 90 some odd percent of immigrants

          7  come to this country is so that they can work; so

          8  that they can make a better living for themselves

          9  and their families. Anything that makes it harder

         10  for them to work is really a very, very difficult

         11  thing that is there.

         12                 Also, some of the people who try to

         13  get jobs in construction industries, even in our own

         14  city, in some parts of the boroughs, they need cars

         15  in order to work to drive to those construction

         16  sites. In all of those ways, the inability of

         17  somebody to obtain a driver's license makes it not

         18  only more difficult for them, but makes it more

         19  difficult for us as a society. I would echo what the

         20  previous speaker said about how the more you create

         21  situations, which force people to be unidentified,

         22  the more you create a society in which people are in

         23  shadows. You create a society which is safer or less

         24  safe for all of us.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: In New York, we
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          2  have some former reciprocity in terms of driver's

          3  license. What does the difference in terms of

          4  getting a license in other states that have been

          5  used here. For example, what is the requirement in

          6  the other states to get a driver's license as

          7  compared to New York State?

          8                 MR. SULLIVAN: I'm sorry. I'm just

          9  know about your comment.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: You don't know

         11  about it.

         12                 MR. SULLIVAN: I have a New York State

         13  driver's license, not in New Jersey.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: What I'm asking

         15  whether you would know about other states? Whether

         16  it is the same requirements and if it will be

         17  forcing folks who live in New York to go to other

         18  states to get a driver's license that could be used

         19  in New York?

         20                 MR. SULLIVAN: I think that may

         21  happen. Obviously, that's not a good thing to do. We

         22  don't want public policies that incentivize bad

         23  behavior. Why this is to a certain extent a

         24  hobbesian choice, your constituents, my

         25  parishioners, are not going to want a driver's
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          2  license that when they go to Amtrak or when they go

          3  to a hotel or when they go to the airport, that when

          4  they get there, they say, oh, no, you can drive, but

          5  you can't get on the plane. You can't get on the

          6  train. It just is creating an absolutely horrendous

          7  situation. Quite frankly, there may be a situation

          8  in which opting out for New York State might be the

          9  lesser of two evils, but it is not a good solution

         10  by any stretch of the imagination. That is just not

         11  an acceptable way for us to kind of deal as a people

         12  and a society, especially in an area which is so

         13  tightly compact.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: The reason why I

         15  raised that, I wanted to see if we are creating a

         16  situation whereby people are forced to do these

         17  things like go to other states to get a driver's

         18  license. It is a situation whereby they are trying

         19  to survive and as they look for the easiest way to

         20  survive.

         21                 MR. SULLIVAN: But remember you are

         22  absolutely right. The whole context is if the state

         23  driver's license that to be issued is going to meet

         24  the requirements for which people might want it for

         25  federal identification purposes, then no matter what
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          2  state you go to it has to meet the same onerous

          3  identification requirements in New York State. If

          4  you go to another state to get a driver's license

          5  and it doesn't meet those standards, you might have

          6  a driver's license, but it is not going to be

          7  valuable for that.

          8                 In addition, one of the difficulties

          9  that we have to figure out a way is to forest an

         10  immigration system which provides for generous legal

         11  immigration for people so that they are not

         12  incentivized to seek false documents, to seek things

         13  that can caused further exploitation. In my opinion,

         14  the implementation of the REAL ID Act incentivizes

         15  to poor behavior.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: Yes, I also know

         17  that. But I was just thinking about presently the

         18  REAL ID Act hasn't taken full force yet and so I'm

         19  looking at what the situation in New York, what the

         20  DMV is forcing our residents to do at this time. It

         21  may not work after May of 2008 when every state is

         22  suppose to comply with this. But I'm talking about

         23  now whereby you have different standards by

         24  different states. It forces residents to maybe seek

         25  another state or another area whereby it may not be
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          2  as stringent as in New York.

          3                 MR. SULLIVAN: Councilman, I think I

          4  now understand your question. It would be my

          5  position that given the difficulty that we have in

          6  dealing with some of the burdens of the REAL ID Act.

          7  It is not a good idea for DMV in New York State to

          8  add any additional requirements because we got this

          9  big thing that we have to deal with. Why bother

         10  trying to set up something interim apart from this

         11  which tries to maybe mimic some of the aspects of

         12  this? Let's wait and solve the big problem. I agree

         13  with you completely. We don't need DMV kind of

         14  taking/jumping the gun on this. We need to solve the

         15  big problem in the country and New York State.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: Certain driver's

         17  license reform laws have been introduced in the

         18  Senate. I don't know if you know about that. Do you

         19  know if any of these laws that have been introduced,

         20  for example, you have A611 that may circumvent or

         21  may change of what is happening now. Do you know of

         22  any of those laws?

         23                 MR. SULLIVAN: I personally am not

         24  familiar with those pieces of legislation. Are you

         25  Raluca?
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: Your name is?

          3                 MS. ONCIOIU: Raluca Oncioiu. The

          4  Immigration Department and the Immigration Hotline

          5  at Catholic Charities.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: All right. I

          7  think we should allow you to present your testimony

          8  first and then --

          9                 MR. SULLIVAN: No, no. We're together.

         10                 MS. ONCIOIU: Monsignor Sullivan

         11  presented testimony.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: You are

         13  together. All right. Identify yourself.

         14                 MS. ONCIOIU: Raluca Oncioiu, Director

         15  of the Immigration Services Department and the

         16  Immigration Hotline of Catholic Charities. I believe

         17  the legislation you are referring to or the bill

         18  that you are referring to is proposing for people

         19  who do not have social security numbers to get a

         20  letter from Social Security saying that they are not

         21  eligible for it and then with that letter to be able

         22  to get their licenses. Is that correct?

         23                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: The ITN

         24  numbers.

         25                 MS. ONCIOIU: The ITN numbers as well.
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          2  I believe that will be a step in the right direction

          3  and I understand that both chambers passed. Is that

          4  correct?

          5                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: I don't know

          6  that it has been passed. I believe it is still in

          7  Committee.

          8                 MS. ONCIOIU: I think that would go a

          9  long way towards resolving this problem. It may not

         10  completely because I think that immigrants and

         11  especially those who are undocumented are maybe

         12  reluctant to take such a step. But it would

         13  certainly be better than what we have now. I just

         14  wanted to address something that you were asking

         15  about before or I thought you were asking about

         16  before. We do have reports in our office from our

         17  clients that they are being forced to go to other

         18  states to get licenses. It is actually worse than

         19  that. It is not just a trip out of state. But

         20  organizations are taking advantage; not

         21  organizations, but unscrupulous individuals are

         22  setting up trips out of state, charging thousands of

         23  dollars, providing phony residency documents in

         24  other states in order to get licenses there. This is

         25  a big problem. Again, a very vulnerable segment of
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          2  our society is being taken advantage of.

          3                 Not to mention the fact that this may

          4  be in the future a problem because for a variety of

          5  purposes especially for immigration, if one day they

          6  have a chance to get legal status, they may be in

          7  front of an immigration officer who will ask for

          8  their identity document. See that is a New Mexico

          9  driver's license and say I thought you were living

         10  in New York for the last ten years. How did you get

         11  this? Did you commit some sort of fraud? It is not

         12  good no matter how you look at it.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: Very

         14  interesting.

         15                 MS. ONCIOIU: I'm sorry. May I add one

         16  thing? There are also within the City reports that

         17  people are selling fake documents for hundreds if

         18  not thousands of dollars again in an attempt to get

         19  around the fact that some people cannot renew their

         20  licenses. They are getting fake documents.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: That creates a

         22  bigger problem for the residents because when they

         23  are caught with that, it is a crime.

         24                 MS. ONCIOIU: Absolutely it is, but

         25  people are desperate. The fact is, if you do not
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          2  allow immigrants to get driver's licenses, most of

          3  them will continue to drive because they have to get

          4  to their jobs and they have to get their kids to

          5  school and they have to get to the supermarket. They

          6  have to get to the hospital, et cetera. I'm not

          7  quite sure what problem this resolves. I have not

          8  heard anything good about these requirements since

          9  it is implemented. We also see cases in our office,

         10  very frequent cases of people who are entitled to

         11  driver's licenses.

         12                 They are refugees and they have

         13  problems getting the documents that they are

         14  entitled too because DMV officials and frankly,

         15  Social Security Administration officials, do not

         16  really know how to read and what kind of documentary

         17  proof is given out by immigration. So they may have

         18  a list of certain documents and if someone to goes

         19  to them with a different document, that is slightly

         20  different they don't recognize, that person is going

         21  to have a problem. If that problem is smart enough

         22  to come into our office and we can help them, that's

         23  great. But if they don't and they give up, that's a

         24  problem. Again, this is something that they are

         25  entitled to under the law.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: Monsignor, do

          3  you believe that restricting the driver's license is

          4  an effective and efficient measure to prevent

          5  terrorism?

          6                 MR. SULLIVAN: No.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: Just strictly

          8  no. Any other questions? I want to thank you for

          9  your testimony.

         10                 MR. SULLIVAN: Thank you so much for

         11  holding this hearing. We are fully aware that this

         12  is beyond the purview of the City Council, but

         13  clearly, in your conversations with your colleagues

         14  who might be upper level government, it is very,

         15  very important that this be brought before them.

         16  Thank you very much for holding this hearing.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: Thank you.

         18                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Thank you. And

         19  I would like to call up the next panel. I have

         20  Robert Newman from the Legal Aid Society and Jojo

         21  Annobil from the Legal Aid Society also.

         22                 MR. ANNOBIL: Good morning, Chairman

         23  Kendall Stewart, Council Members. My name is Jojo

         24  Annobil. I am the Supervising Attorney of the

         25  Immigration Law Unit at the Legal Aid Society. I
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          2  believe that the first two panelists did a very good

          3  job on this subject and I'm going to be very brief

          4  because I don't want to belabor anymore points.

          5  Again, I am from the Legal Aid Society.

          6                 The Legal Aid Society believes that

          7  driving is so essential to everyday life that it is

          8  sound public safety policy to allow all New York

          9  residents to obtain and maintain valid drivers

         10  licenses once they prove that they are able and

         11  willing to obey traffic laws and regulations.

         12  Bringing everyone within the drivers licensing

         13  system protects citizens and non- citizens by

         14  ensuring that everyone, regardless of immigration

         15  status, knows the rules of the road and has an

         16  incentive to obey them.

         17                 This safety interest is so vital that

         18  any reliable documents which establishes a person's

         19  identity and community ties should be sufficient to

         20  facilitate the process of obtaining a driver's

         21  license. The New York State Department of Motor

         22  Vehicle's current regulations; however, and the

         23  Federal ID Act of 2005 provisions, which limit

         24  immigrants access to drivers licenses based on

         25  immigration status subverts public safety.
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          2                 Under the Department of Motor

          3  Vehicle's state regulations, applicants for drivers

          4  licenses are required to furnish the DMV with valid

          5  social security numbers. Those who are ineligible

          6  are required to obtain a denial letter from Social

          7  Security and submit current supporting documents

          8  from the United States Citizenship and Immigration

          9  Services. These regulations are wreaking havoc on

         10  immigrant communities in New York State. And the

         11  estimates range anywhere from 200 to 300,000.

         12                 The immediate impact on long- time

         13  law abiding undocumented immigrant workers is quite

         14  obvious. Undocumented immigrants unable to furnish

         15  current documentation from immigration authorities

         16  to establish their ineligibility to receive a social

         17  security number have very limited options. Providing

         18  DMV with current documentation that reveals their

         19  unlawful status will make them targets for

         20  Immigration and Customs Enforcement sweeps at DMV

         21  locations.

         22                 Thus, thousands of these immigrant

         23  workers who drive to work or whose employment

         24  requires a driver's license have to make a difficult

         25  choice between losing long- time employment which
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          2  pays for their basic necessities of life and driving

          3  without a valid license. For a majority of these

          4  workers, continuing to drive is the only viable

          5  choice. This definitely increases the pool of

          6  unlicensed and, therefore, uninsured motorists which

          7  makes our roads and highways unsafe.

          8                 The inability of undocumented

          9  immigrant workers to obtain and maintain a valid

         10  driver's license under these regulations has

         11  increased the demand for fraudulent drivers

         12  licenses. In purchasing and using fraudulent

         13  driver's licenses; however, immigrants risk

         14  detection, criminal felony prosecution for forgery

         15  and related offenses under the New York Penal Code,

         16  and possible deportation or removal.

         17                 Immigrants convicted of crimes

         18  related to forgery or possession of fraudulent

         19  documents could be found to have committed a crime

         20  involving moral turpitude, a ground of

         21  inadmissibility or deportability under immigration

         22  law. A conviction for a crime of moral turpitude

         23  could bar an undocumented immigrant from several

         24  forms of relief from removal. For instance, an

         25  application for adjustment of status through a
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          2  qualified United States citizen family member, or an

          3  application for cancellation of removal, a

          4  discretionary form of relief available to an

          5  undocumented immigrant who has resided continuously

          6  in the United States for ten years, and can

          7  establish good moral character and prove that

          8  removal would result in exceptional and extremely

          9  unusual hardship to a United States citizen or

         10  lawful permanent resident spouse, parent, or child

         11  could be jeopardized by virtue of a felony forgery

         12  conviction.

         13                 Enforcing the REAL ID Act provisions

         14  in addition to what we currently have would really,

         15  really hurt our clients. The federal statute

         16  basically would ask DMV officials or clerks to

         17  determine lawful immigration status and we are bound

         18  to have erroneous denials of applications submitted

         19  by lawful immigrant residents. Immigration law is

         20  very complex and highly technical. Immigration laws

         21  and regulations change constantly, requiring

         22  frequent memoranda or guidelines from immigration

         23  authorities explaining the changes.

         24                 There are currently approximately 60

         25  non- immigrant visa categories. The United States
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          2  Immigration and Customs Services is notorious for

          3  missing files and not having up- to- date computer

          4  records on immigration cases. Determining whether a

          5  non- citizen is in lawful status based on a myriad

          6  of immigration documents issued by U.S. Citizenship

          7  and Immigration Services and the State Department is

          8  not a task that can be easily handled by DMV clerks.

          9                 For instance, several City agencies

         10  and drug treatment programs which deal with court-

         11  referred clients have refused to provide benefits to

         12  lawful residents who have expired lawful permanent

         13  resident cards. These agencies have over the years

         14  refused to accept that under immigration regulations

         15  even though the permanent residence card expires

         16  after ten years, a person's lawful status does not

         17  expire. Thus, it is more than likely that DMV clerks

         18  required to review several different complex

         19  documents will routinely erroneously deny

         20  applications submitted by lawful residents.

         21                 In conclusion, we support City

         22  Council Resolution 1009- A, adopted in December

         23  2004, which calls for New York State to opt out of

         24  the REAL ID Act of 2005 requirements. New York State

         25  should modify its driver's license regulations to
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          2  make it easier for non- citizens irrespective of

          3  lawful status to obtain and maintain valid drivers

          4  licenses. We also urge Congress to pass the overdue

          5  and much anticipated Comprehensive Immigration

          6  Reform Bill.

          7                 In May 2005, when Congress enacted

          8  the REAL ID Act, strategists advising the White

          9  House said they hoped that by accommodating those

         10  calling for stricter enforcement, the White House

         11  could win support for a package of changes in

         12  immigration law including the guest worker program.

         13  That has turned out to be wishful thinking.

         14  Ultimately, a comprehensive immigration reform bill

         15  will make America safer and allow all residents to

         16  contribute towards the common good of the United

         17  States. Thank you.

         18                 MR. NEWMAN: The only thing that I

         19  would like to add to Mr. Annobil's testimony is that

         20  we represent tens of thousands of people every year

         21  who are accused in criminal court of driving without

         22  valid licenses. These laws are directed against

         23  people who drive drunk or who commit traffic

         24  violations repeatedly and failed to answer their

         25  summons or pay their fines. These are the people who
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          2  should be kept off the road. But if we are forced to

          3  represent people who drive without licenses only

          4  because their immigration status prevents them from

          5  getting licenses, no matter how safely they drive,

          6  that is one more instance of unfairness coupled with

          7  all of the other incidents that the other witnesses

          8  have described.

          9                 In addition, of course, we also

         10  represent people who are accused of possessing

         11  forged or fraudulent documents and if they don't do

         12  that for their own profit, but only do it because as

         13  the Catholic Charities speaker said, they are

         14  desperate to drive and it is their only way of

         15  driving, that is also unfair. The current laws

         16  encourage shady operators like the last speaker said

         17  who exploit our immigrants and charge them

         18  exorbitant sums just for the opportunity to drive to

         19  work and drive their families to the store, things

         20  that the rest of us are able to do without even

         21  thinking about them. Our laws should treat people

         22  equally on the roads whatever their immigration

         23  status.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: This puts a very

         25  interesting picture in terms of immigrants dealing
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          2  with the law and coming before a judge. Is there any

          3  direct connection between Homeland Security and the

          4  Legal Aid Society in terms of when one comes before

          5  the courts with maybe traffic problem? Maybe driving

          6  with suspended license or any one of those

          7  infractions?

          8                 MR. ANNOBIL: I guess what you are

          9  asking is whether if someone is arrested for driving

         10  with their suspended licenses or with a forged

         11  license, whether if the person is taking in and you

         12  may correct me if I'm wrong, the connection between

         13  immigration --

         14                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: Is there any

         15  connection whatsoever?

         16                 MR. ANNOBIL: Well, what is happening

         17  right now is that because there so many cooperation

         18  between the federal government and the local law

         19  enforcement agencies, at most of these jails you

         20  have immigration and custom enforcement present.

         21  Most people who are taken into custody upon being

         22  arrested and don't make bail within about 24 to 48

         23  hours, most of them are getting detainers lodged

         24  against them by Immigration and Customs Enforcement.

         25  It is happening currently at Rikers where sometimes
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          2  they even go into the jail, the cell blocks, using

          3  the ruse that the defendants have an attorney visit

          4  and when they show up, immigration is waiting and

          5  they get them to sign papers sometimes waiving their

          6  rights to appear before a judge.

          7                 What we do at Legal Aid is that Legal

          8  Aid has two attorneys specifically advising defense

          9  counsel in the criminal practice area about what to

         10  do in situations like that. What we try to prevent

         11  is we try educating our clients and also talking to

         12  CBO's about advising people who come into contact

         13  with the criminal justice system. Either you post

         14  bail as soon as possible once you go through

         15  arraignment. Because once you hit Rikers and you are

         16  undocumented or you are here legally but have some

         17  kind of a conviction, immigration will lodge a

         18  detainer on you if that conviction makes your

         19  deportable.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: In other words,

         21  you are saying once you go to Rikers Island, that's

         22  the point in which they come in contact with

         23  Homeland Security officers?

         24                 MR. ANNOBIL: Yes, Chairman Stewart.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: However, if one
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          2  is picked up now for let's say driving with

          3  suspended license and he can post bail as he goes

          4  before a judge, he doesn't have to meet with the

          5  officer at that time?

          6                 MR. ANNOBIL: No. You have to get to

          7  Rikers or you have to be in one like the tombs down

          8  here in New York county for you to come into contact

          9  with ICE.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: I thought before

         11  that the information was being checked on by the

         12  officers as you are being arrested to see if you

         13  have any other and it's been notified.

         14                 MR. ANNOBIL: That usually is

         15  something that immigrants who have final deportation

         16  audits, for example, that information has been

         17  entered into a database which is available to local

         18  law enforcement agencies. If someone, let's say

         19  unbeknownst to the person, came in at age nine with

         20  his parents and applied for asylum and was denied

         21  asylum and didn't show up in court and the court

         22  ordered them deported, unbeknownst to this gentleman

         23  who is now 30 years old, he has a final order

         24  somewhere in the files of the immigration service.

         25  There is a traffic stop, his name is entered into
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          2  their computer and it comes up, they will take that

          3  person into custody. However, that is very different

          4  from someone who doesn't have a record, who doesn't

          5  have a final order of deportation; who is not able

          6  to post bail and ends up at Rikers. It is two

          7  different ways.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: In other words,

          9  what you are saying is that the officer is not

         10  really notifying, but first will check to see if

         11  there are any other problem.

         12                 MR. ANNOBIL: Yes.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: If there is

         14  notice of another problem, they will notify ICE.

         15                 MR. ANNOBIL: Yes.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: That's what you

         17  are saying. They will hold you and notify ICE?

         18                 MR. ANNOBIL: Yes.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: They will hold

         20  you and notify ICE. But if there is no other

         21  information that is lodged there against you, then

         22   --

         23                 MR. ANNOBIL: They will process the

         24  arrest.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: They will
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          2  process the arrest.

          3                 MR. ANNOBIL: Yes.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: And the only

          5  time that that person may come before or be in

          6  contact from someone from ICE or from the

          7  Immigration Department, it will be when they are

          8  being sent to or in a holding pen?

          9                 MR. ANNOBIL: Yes.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: Or sent to jail?

         11                 MR. ANNOBIL: Yes.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: That is what you

         13  are saying?

         14                 MR. ANNOBIL: Yes.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: It means that

         16  what is happening we are still continuing to violate

         17  the Executive Order 41 which the Mayor signed.

         18                 MR. ANNOBIL: That's true. But I think

         19  you also have to look behind that and that is that

         20  the Department of Corrections receives a ton of

         21  money from the Justice Department just to be able to

         22  identify people who are here illegally.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: Just for that?

         24                 MR. ANNOBIL: Yes. Because the money

         25  they are receiving, the fact that if DOC is able to
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          2  identify someone who is here illegally, who is in

          3  their custody, if they are notified, they basically

          4  have a log where if they keep the person for let's

          5  say three days. They have to hold the person for

          6  three days or four days, they can charge some kind

          7  of fund that the Department of Justice has. If I'm

          8  correct, the last time I heard, New York was one of

          9  the beneficiaries of a huge sum of money as a result

         10  of that. There are all kind of things going on. I

         11  think ultimately we talk about Executive Law 41 and

         12  whether that only applies to City employees and does

         13  not apply to State employees. Because I believe

         14  sometimes DOC even probation officers, routinely

         15  advise immigration authorities to pick up people who

         16  are on probation. It happens every day.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: So you are

         18  saying that the Executive Order basically governs

         19  just the City employees, but not necessarily State

         20  employees?

         21                 MR. ANNOBIL: That is what it is.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: They routinely

         23  notify ICE or Department of Homeland Security about

         24  folks who might be on probation or might be come

         25  into the system or even when they arrest them.
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          2                 MR. ANNOBIL: Yes.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: Very

          4  interesting. Mr. Newman, do you have any comments to

          5  make?

          6                 MR. NEWMAN: I would just support and

          7  endorse what my colleague said.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: Gentlemen, we

          9  have no more questions for you. I can see the

         10  difficulty that you have in dealing with trying to

         11  help folks that come before you. Somehow, somehow

         12  there ought to be some sort of system that design to

         13  deal with this drivers license issue and the system

         14  is such that we are forcing folks to drive without

         15  the drivers license which creates unsafe situations

         16  in our streets and really puts these folks at risk

         17  in terms to become criminals. Because when they

         18  drive without a driver's license, they are violating

         19  the law. If they can drive and they once had a

         20  driver's license and they have met those

         21  requirements, I think that they should be given the

         22  opportunity to drive once they pass the test.

         23  Because what we are doing with this new system that

         24  we have is really forcing them to drive to survive.

         25  In order to survive, they are violating the law and
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          2  they are putting all of us at risk.

          3                 MR. NEWMAN: Thank you. Councilman,

          4  the only thing that I might like to add is you did

          5  hear earlier today that one of the over arching

          6  goals already adopted by the Council is to persuade

          7  Congress to appeal or modify this REAL ID Act. I

          8  feel that if we could first persuade the State to

          9  opt out to not implement the Act, that might be an

         10  effective means of leading our citizens and our

         11  State officials to in turn put pressure upon

         12  Congress to modify the REAL ID Act and to achieve

         13  the goal that we share.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: All right. I

         15  want to thank you for your testimony. I want to

         16  thank you for coming in. Having said that, you are

         17  dismissed.

         18                 MR. ANNOBIL: Thank you very much.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: This meeting is

         20  adjourned. There is one more? Who is that? Is there

         21  anyone to testify? Come. Sorry about that. Take your

         22  seat. I'm sorry about that. Please identify yourself

         23  and begin.

         24                 MS. NOTKIN: I want to thank the

         25  Council for inviting me to come and testify. My name
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          2  is Deborah Notkin and I'm the Immediate Past

          3  President of the American Immigration Lawyers

          4  Association and a member of their Executive

          5  Committee and a partner in the New York City based

          6  law firm of Barst and Mukamal. My association is

          7  over 10,000 people nationally and we are also over a

          8  1,000 strong in New York and are committed to a

          9  number of things including comprehensive immigration

         10  reform in the repeal of REAL ID.

         11                 Our immigration system is broken and

         12  we all know that it needs a different approach. In

         13  our opinion, a comprehensive plan that puts together

         14  enhanced visas with a realistic enforcement

         15  provision that makes sense. It is unwise to use the

         16  drivers license issue to help enforce what's already

         17  a dysfunctional system. Proponents of restrictive

         18  licensing argue that licensing undocumented

         19  immigrants rewards unlawful conduct and jeopardizes

         20  national security. At first blush, the argument has

         21  appeal; but in fact, the evidence shows that

         22  licensing all persons in the United States can

         23  present reliable, secure identity documents,

         24  regardless of immigration status, strengthen our

         25  national security, promote highway safety and
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          2  increase insured motorist rates. In addition, it has

          3  been difficult, if not impossible, for the Motor

          4  Vehicles Department to determine who is maintaining

          5  legal immigration status in the United States and

          6  who to give and who not to give licenses to under

          7  their mandate that they have to establish legal

          8  status.

          9                 In terms of national security,

         10  licensing undocumented immigrants on the basis of

         11  reliable identity documents including foreign issued

         12  documents, actually promotes national security and

         13  assists law enforcement authorities in identifying

         14  who is in this country. Restricting licenses

         15  undermines rather than enhances national security by

         16  pushing people deeper into the shadows and fueling,

         17  as was mentioned by some of the speakers before, the

         18  black market in false documents. Moreover, it

         19  severely diminishes the law enforcement utility of

         20  motor vehicle databases by reducing, rather than

         21  expanding, government data on individuals in the

         22  country.

         23                 The drivers license issue and the

         24  need to restrict it has been used and I think

         25  erroneously to say that it was drivers licenses that

                                                            65

          1  COMMITTEE ON IMMIGRATION

          2  contributed to the 9/11 terrorist being able to get

          3  on a plane. There is a myth that has been bandied

          4  around here that says that between the 19 of them,

          5  they had 63 drivers licenses. This was not true. In

          6  fact, in reality what they did have as indicated by

          7  a special staff report of the 9/11 Commission was 13

          8  drivers licenses between them and at least one of

          9  them boarded a plane with a foreign passport.

         10                 From the public safety point of view,

         11  documentation shows that unlicensed driving is a

         12  huge highway safety problem. Unlicensed drivers have

         13  not been tested for driving competence or their

         14  knowledge of the rules of the road. According to the

         15  American Automobile Association Foundation for

         16  Traffic Safety, in its report, Unlicensed to Kill,

         17  unlicensed drivers are almost five times more likely

         18  to be in a fatal crash than are validly licensed

         19  drivers. The National Highway Safety Transportation

         20  Administration reports that in properly licensed

         21  drivers cause 11 percent of fatal crashes; 6,100

         22  deaths and $25 billion in property damage per year.

         23                 Now this is what I find is really

         24  interesting. Two of the five states in this country

         25  which are still issuing drivers licenses to those
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          2  regardless of their immigration status have seen

          3  positive results in the area of public safety. In

          4  Utah, the rate of uninsured drivers dropped from 35

          5  percent to 12 percent after legislators voted to

          6  allow undocumented immigrants to obtain driver's

          7  license. In New Mexico, it reports that its rate of

          8  uninsured drivers dropped by 50 percent; very

          9  important for public safety and for people being

         10  covered in insurance.

         11                 In addition, in restricting drivers

         12  licenses as mandated by the REAL ID, we are really

         13  impacting our states and federal governments.

         14  Licensing is a state function, not a federal

         15  function. Federal immigration laws are a federal

         16  function. What we've seen when we make a state body

         17  try to enforce immigration laws is chaos. It is a

         18  very difficult type of law. It is very complicated

         19  and the DMV folks are understandably not well

         20  trained enough in these intricacies. How do they do

         21  it? They do it badly.

         22                 You have heard several examples of

         23  people who said that they can't get driver's

         24  licenses. I'm going to give you examples of the

         25  so-called best and the brightest of the immigrants.
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          2  Intracompany transfer executives, professionals here

          3  on what's called an H1B Visa. What happens is that

          4  they are given a driver's license if they come with

          5  H1B documentation for the amount of time that they

          6  are in status. But they are allowed to renew this

          7  status. This is the law, not the DMV law, but the

          8  real law. When you are in H1 or L1 status, these are

          9  the professional visas, if you extend your status,

         10  file to extend it one day before it expires, you are

         11  in valid status here. You are in valid H1 or L1

         12  status. You are valid to work here. You are valid to

         13  stay here.

         14                 The Citizenship Immigration Services

         15  understands that. The Department of Labor and their

         16  I9 enforcement to make sure employers are hiring

         17  only people that are legal to work here, they

         18  understand that. The only people that don't

         19  understand this is the DMV and many of us have, if

         20  there is some reason that their case is held up in

         21  processing and extending these cases can take three

         22  to four months. Frantic calls from executives and

         23  others in corporate America saying, I can't get my

         24  driver's license. They won't renew it. Can you do

         25  something? It is a very difficult thing. This
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          2  happens all the time in New York State.

          3                 In closing, the immigration laws of

          4  this country are broken and we know that. In

          5  restricting the drivers license does not nothing to

          6  help the crisis. Hopefully, Congress is going to

          7  understand the need for comprehensive immigration

          8  reform. Give the undocumented here a path to

          9  legalization, account for future flows of those who

         10  we need to come here for family reunification or to

         11  take jobs that U.S. Citizens don't want. But in the

         12  meantime, our drivers licenses are not the way to

         13  enforce a broken system to begin with nor does it in

         14  anyway deter terrorism.

         15                 Again, thank you for the opportunity

         16  of having me testify.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: Before I call on

         18  my colleague who has a few questions, I was looking

         19  at CNN not too long ago and one of the things that

         20  they were clambering for to try to enforce some of

         21  the immigration laws is to have greater fines for

         22  the employers. Do you think that will really help

         23  the situation or is it that you will cause greater

         24  problems for our small businesses in this country?

         25                 MS. NOTKIN: Of course, it will
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          2  Councilman Stewart. My association doesn't oppose

          3  having an adequate employer verification system. We

          4  understand that in order to ask them to do that, you

          5  have to be able to provide them with the legal

          6  workers. If we have a system to regularize workers

          7  who are producing and contributing here and to allow

          8  some time down the road employers to be able to

          9  bring in workers that are needed when they can show

         10  that they don't have U.S. Workers that want the

         11  jobs; when they show they are not going to give them

         12  exploitive wages, then I do believe we should have a

         13  verification procedure that works and has penalties

         14  so that we will prosecute then the bag eggs who seek

         15  people who are illegals and who are vulnerable to

         16  give them substandard wages.

         17                 But right now I think upgrading

         18  verification system as I think upgrading an

         19  enforcement system without fixing the overlying

         20  problem of not giving people visas who should have

         21  them only does make the problem worse. It impacts

         22  employers. It impacts our economy. It impacts big

         23  employers too who can't grow another plant and

         24  employ U.S. workers because there may not be enough

         25  construction workers in the area that they are
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          2  seeking to have the plant. I think it is a bad idea

          3  now and it is all part of the philosophy that we are

          4  suppose to enforce our laws first, our dysfunctional

          5  laws, and then see what we need later. It is an

          6  impossible task.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: Council Member

          8  Nelson.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: Thank you. Hi,

         10  Ms. Notkin.

         11                 MS. NOTKIN: Hi.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: I'm 90 percent

         13  sold. But it is hard when you don't hear anybody

         14  from the opposing side and we tried to get people to

         15  speak on behalf of this.

         16                 MS. NOTKIN: I was hoping to see

         17  Michael Cutler here, my good friend.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: If he would

         19  have showed, I don't know if they just don't have

         20  the guts or they just didn't have the time or the

         21  caring to show up. That's a little distressing.

         22  Because we have hearings to hear both sides. We get

         23  a lot of our information, education from these

         24  hearings. Testimony is important otherwise, what

         25  will be the sense of having these hearings.
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          2                 MS. NOTKIN: Yes.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: I don't

          4  remember this, but your speciality I imagine is

          5  immigration law?

          6                 MS. NOTKIN: That's right.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: Do you think

          8  it would help the practice or not if the REAL ID Act

          9  was just silently stolen into the night and

         10  disappeared?

         11                 MS. NOTKIN: REAL ID actually impacts

         12  my clients and the clients of the association more

         13  than it impacts the practice. What really impacts

         14  the practice is the laws that we have. A law 1996

         15  that keeps people here captives because once you are

         16  here illegally for ten years, you have a ten year

         17  bar of ever returning if you leave. There is a

         18  number of things. And it's not that those practices

         19  aren't prosperous, it's that I think my members and

         20  I would rather be able to get benefits for people

         21  rather than be defending a bread earner of five kids

         22  who is here illegally and has no recourse to get a

         23  green card in immigration court in trying to

         24  convince a judge that it is severe hardship should

         25  he be deported.
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          2                 There is a whole range of laws that

          3  we have that are restrictive that don't give people

          4  a chance to legalize themselves. It really gives the

          5  practice this tone of -- it give the immigration

          6  situation such a terrible cast.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: So it might

          8  not hinder or enhance either way?

          9                 MS. NOTKIN: No. It would not hinder

         10  the practice, but it would make the lives of these

         11  people and their families and remember they are in

         12  blended families with U.S. Citizen children a lot

         13  better to get rid of it. And I must say it would be

         14  great to see New York not follow REAL ID because

         15  when you think about it, big states, other states

         16  will follow. If there are many states that will not

         17  participate in REAL ID, then its value gets

         18  diminished and it is absolute enforceability gets

         19  diminished. Can you imagine what it is going to be

         20  like in the Senate to have a list of how many states

         21  follow REAL ID and how many don't? Whose drivers

         22  licenses they can take and whose they can't? It

         23  would be chaos.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: You have a lot

         25  more time and your livelihood pretty much is devoted
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          2  to this practice. Why do you suppose Congress sneak

          3  this through in the dark of night?

          4                 MS. NOTKIN: I think it is because we

          5  have a restrictionist group in the Senate that want

          6  to do everything they can to make it harder for

          7  people to stay here on the theory that the harder

          8  they make it, they are going to go home. But they

          9  are not going home. That's part of it. And

         10  unfortunately, some of these people are master

         11  procedural operators, particularly in the House.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: Congress not

         13  the immigrants.

         14                 MS. NOTKIN: Right. This was one law

         15  as well as others that went through in the heat of

         16  the night in the House, for instance. In the House

         17  bill, it would have made 11 million people felonies

         18  who are here illegally, went through and passed

         19  without debate. It was put forth and without

         20  discussion as was this and that's what happening.

         21  These things tend not to pass in Congress when we

         22  have discussion. Look at what came out of the Senate

         23  when they had an open discussion on immigration

         24  reform.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: That may be
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          2  part of the reason why there is nobody to testify on

          3  the other side overall.

          4                 MS. NOTKIN: It may be.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: They would

          6  have been able to testify that well in Congress I

          7  guess if they had it open, the importance of

          8  testimony. Thank you. Thank you, Mr. Chair.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: I have a couple

         10  questions. Do you believe that with the mid- term

         11  election that is pending, you think that if some

         12  folks have said that if the democrats regain both

         13  Houses that you will have fast comprehensive

         14  immigration law? Could you comment on that? Do you

         15  think that is possible?

         16                 MS. NOTKIN: I think it may be

         17  possible. But I think it depends, it is more a

         18  bipartisan thing. Remember that the comprehensive

         19  immigration reform was put forward by John McCain

         20  and Senator Kennedy and it was the republican

         21  senators who really got the thing pushed forward.

         22  But in terms of the House, it depends who. I know

         23  that there are some democrats in the House who are

         24  running, who are restrictionist on the other hand,

         25  most of them aren't. I think if there is a change in
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          2  the House, it is true that the democrats tend to be

          3  in the House more open to comprehensive immigration

          4  reform; but then again I hope that it is the right

          5  ones. What's interesting is that there is a dynamic

          6  happening now and in fact there is a debate right in

          7  New York in a very hotly contested House race and it

          8  is a surprise to everybody that Peter King who was

          9  an author of the House bill that would have made 11

         10  million people felonies who is being contested by a

         11  new comer, David Mejias. He is only two points

         12  behind. I think that while it may be democratic, I

         13  think we are seeing also that this issue is a time

         14  that has come and we may actually see a lot of

         15  places in the country that people are fed up with

         16  this kind of really restrictionist rhetoric.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: As you mention

         18  that, I think the extremes here, we have two

         19  extremes the HR4437 and the new McCain/Kennedy bill

         20  I think to satisfy both Houses, I think we have to

         21  meet somewhere in between. I believe that if there

         22  is a comprehensive immigration bill that is passed,

         23  then we can implement the REAL ID Act. And that may

         24  make a big difference because it now will adjust the

         25  11 or 12 million people that are here and then
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          2  everybody would be in tune to do the right thing in

          3  terms of the employers will then know now there will

          4  be restrictions and it will be harder to deal with

          5  anyone who comes in. It will be harder for them to

          6  be able to establish themselves.

          7                 The 12 or 15 million folks who are

          8  right now, I cannot see how you can really deport or

          9  you can get rid of, 12 or 15 million people just

         10  like that. That's basically what the REAL ID Act is

         11  doing in a sense trying to put the pressure on all

         12  15 or 20 million people. If we do comprehensive

         13  immigration law, then we can start from the scratch,

         14  from fresh with this REAL ID Act. And it becomes a

         15  much easier thing for the states to deal with.

         16                 MS. NOTKIN: Well, yes and no.

         17  Actually I have a little disagreement with you there

         18  because the idea that this comprehensive bill wants

         19  to do more than legalize, I can't say just

         20  legalizing 11 million people. It is a big thing to

         21  legalize 11 million people. But you have to go back

         22  and look at amnesty and people who are opponents of

         23  this, say we'll have another amnesty, it didn't

         24  work, we had more illegals. The reason was, amnesty

         25  was an abscess. It was a bandaid on an abscess that
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          2  we don't have any kind of a worker program for

          3  people who want to come here, to come here legally,

          4  if they have a job here. If the employer who is

          5  going pay them what they paid U.S. Workers because

          6  he can't find enough or she can't find enough U.S.

          7  Workers.

          8                 The idea with the comprehensive

          9  approach is besides legalizing these people, we are

         10  going to have legal ways for people to come in the

         11  future in a safe legal orderly fashion. Now what was

         12  in the McCain/Kennedy bill and which will most

         13  likely be in all the predecessors are that people

         14  are going to come here on temporary visas. There is

         15  going to be circular migration. The DMV, if we make

         16  them our victors of immigration law, are still going

         17  to have to try to figure this stuff out. In my

         18  opinion, we should just take them out of the

         19  immigration business no matter how good our laws are

         20  and move forward with their role to protect public

         21  safety and to have a good database of who is

         22  driving.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: Sounds good to

         24  me. I'm looking to see whether if we have this

         25  comprehensive immigration law, do we really need a
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          2  REAL ID Act?

          3                 MS. NOTKIN: No, I don't think so. I

          4  don't think we should have a REAL ID Act.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: The federal

          6  government passed that and I think they passed it

          7  without any real debate or anything to go along with

          8  that and neither did they put any money to deal with

          9  it. All right. Council Member Viverito.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK-VIVERITO: I'm

         11  going to add an editorial comment. Clearly, this is

         12  just an act in the guise of safety. They said it is

         13  for the purpose of safety. I think it is just a way

         14  of further criminalizing our undocumented

         15  immigrants. I think this is very much along the

         16  lines of what this Administration would like to do

         17  is further criminalize. It is under the guise of

         18  security. That's unfortunately the way a lot of our

         19  policies seem to be shaped these days with that

         20  threat over their head and saying that if we don't

         21  do this, then we are at risk. I think that again, in

         22  many issues that were raised here. We are talking

         23  about privacy matters. We are talking about safety

         24  matters. Now of people being further pushed

         25  underground and in the shadows, this is a real

                                                            79

          1  COMMITTEE ON IMMIGRATION

          2  serious issue. I think that we have a responsibility

          3  whether we would have jurisdiction or not to really

          4  take a strong stand and make a strong statement and

          5  really I think the resolution is one step in that

          6  direction. I want to thank Mr. Chair, for having

          7  this hearing as well.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: Just one last

          9  thing.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: Council Member

         11  Nelson.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: If that is the

         13  case and it has no real basis for national security,

         14  Homeland Security has no really rationale for it and

         15  if it is nothing more than it appears to be, feel

         16  good legislation, if that is in fact what it is. But

         17  until I see something, some rationale for it, I am

         18  still in sort of a quandary. Obviously, 90 something

         19  percent that is seems to be really a foolish idea

         20  that just whiz through. I really would like to see

         21  something from Homeland Security to say why this was

         22  done. Was it just something that looked good for

         23  certain constituencies or not where some of these

         24  members of Congress lived? Other than that, I don't

         25  quite understand the need for the REAL ID Act.
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          2                 MS. NOTKIN: And the 9/11 Commission

          3   --

          4                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: One of the

          5  questions still lingers in my mind is that how many

          6  states that will go along with this REAL ID Act? How

          7  many states will try to and with the difficulty in

          8  trying to do this and difficulty in trying to even

          9  put it in place? How many states by the year May

         10  2008, when it is suppose to be in full effect, how

         11  many states will be able to do that? That is what is

         12  in my mind. That's what the question I am trying

         13  linger over because of the fact of the difficulties

         14  that this creates for some of these states. And

         15  knowing that the federal government has not really

         16  tried to alleviate the cost.

         17                 I mean by just giving some monies to

         18  folks or to departments that may turn in

         19  undocumented, that it in of it self is not really

         20  changing the problem of really dealing with the REAL

         21  ID Act. Knowing that there are a lot of folks who

         22  might be here legally and because of the delay in

         23  Homeland Security and processing their papers, you

         24  deny them the ability to drive or you go through all

         25  this. It is a difficult thing for states to really
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          2  carry out right now. I would like to see in 2008 how

          3  many states are really carrying forth this REAL ID

          4  Act. More than that, I would like to see what the

          5  new Congress or the new Senate will be doing

          6  concerning these pieces of legislation that have

          7  been passed by this present Administration and how

          8  they look at it. I would like to see how they handle

          9  it in the years to come.

         10                 MS. NOTKIN: I think that's right. I

         11  would also like to see how the new governors,

         12  including our governor, handles it and hopefully we

         13  will have an opportunity there.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: I hope that he

         15  looks into it and sees at least there has got to be

         16  something to be done about this.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: If Jimmy Oddo

         18  was here, he would say John Fusco. I feel that there

         19  needs to be tough measures for security. We cannot

         20  forget the lessons that happen only blocks down the

         21  street from here quite frankly. But if it is just

         22  going to be fluff, then there is no sense to it and

         23  an effected crisis sets us back like some of the

         24  legislation; some of the areas that you have

         25  indicated. It is a set backward instead of a step
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          2  forward. Thank you. Thank you, Mr. Chair. Thank you

          3  for testifying.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: Once again, I

          5  want to thank you for always responding to our

          6  requests and I want to thank you for testifying

          7  today. We hope that we can raise some sort of

          8  awareness to this serious problem and at least we

          9  can nudge some our elected officials to at least

         10  look into this. Because there are a number of people

         11  being affected by these laws, the REAL ID Act, the

         12  DMV and its policies. I hope that at least we can

         13  bring awareness to the governor or the new governor

         14  and the state legislators and even some of our

         15  federal representatives so that at least they

         16  understand what we are seeing, what the constituents

         17  are going through in our district and the difficulty

         18  they have in living. I want to thank you for being

         19  here with us. Hope to hear from you again. Thank

         20  you. This hearing is over.

         21                 (Hearing concluded at 12:22 p.m.)
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